Trends in Analytical Chemistry 52 (2013) 135-141



Review

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Trends in Analytical Chemistry

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/trac



Proteomics and its applications for food authentication and food-technology research

José Manuel Gallardo^a, Ignacio Ortea^{a,b}, Mónica Carrera^{a,c,*}

^a Department of Food Technology, Marine Research Institute (IIM), Spanish National Research Council (CSIC), Vigo, Pontevedra, Spain

^b Present address: Institute for Reference Materials and Measurements (EC-JRC-IRMM), Geel, Belgium

^c Proteomics Group, Institute of Molecular Systems Biology (IMSB), ETH Zürich, Wolfgang-Pauli-Str. 16, 8093 Zürich, Switzerland

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Food authentication Foodomics Food processing Food technology High-intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU) Mass spectrometry (MS) Microorganism detection Pathogen Proteomics Selected MS/MS ion monitoring (SMIM)

ABSTRACT

This review is a critical overview of advances in proteomics applied in food technology, which may be classified into two main topics: (i) authentication of food components as a tool to comply with food-labeling regulations and policies; and, (ii) food-technology research, mainly for the development of fast, reliable methods to detect and to identify spoilage and/or pathogenic microorganisms in food and for the study of changes in food components as a consequence of food processing.

© 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1. 2.	Introduction	135 136 136
	2.2. Differential proteomics	136
	2.3. Functional proteomics	136
	2.4. Proteomics workflows	136
	2.5. MS analysis	137
3.	Proteomics in food authenticity	137
	3.1. Discovery phase	138
	3.2. Target-driven phase	138
4.	Proteomics in food technology	139
	4.1. Proteomics in food spoilage and microbiology	139
	4.2. Proteomics in food processing	140
5.	Concluding remarks and future direction	140
	References	140

1. Introduction

Technological advances in the food industry offer substantial benefits to consumers in the global food market. Consumers demand products that meet their nutritional preferences and are ex-

E-mail address: carrera@imsb.biol.ethz.ch (M. Carrera).

tremely vulnerable to food-safety issues. Both academia and the food-science industry face a new challenge: the need to develop strategies and products that are not only safe but also contribute to the maintenance of good health and that may even prevent the development of specific disease-risk factors. In light of this, the recent successes of proteomics methodologies make them a promising strategy to address these concerns.

Proteomics is defined as the large-scale analysis of proteins in a particular biological system at a certain time [1]. Proteomics includes not only the structural and functional knowledge of

^{*} Corresponding author Present address: Proteomics Group, Institute of Molecular Systems Biology (IMSB), ETH Zürich, Wolfgang-Pauli-Str. 16, 8093 Zürich, Switzerland. Tel.: +41 44 633 67 09; Fax: +41 44 633 10 51.

^{0165-9936/\$ -} see front matter @ 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2013.05.019

proteins but also the study of their modifications, interactions, localization and quantification. Proteomics is emerging as a powerful tool for food-technology research [2,3] because it is helping to address the major challenges faced by food analysts and researchers:

- the development of simple, fast methodologies for routine use;
- the analysis of complex or highly processed food matrices; and,
- the quantification of trace levels of analytes with a high degree of selectivity.

This review illustrates up-to-date applications for and the new trends in proteomics methodologies for food-technology research, classified into two main topics:

- the authentication of food components, where proteomics is used as a tool to comply with food-labeling regulations and policies; and,
- (2) the food-technology area, mainly in the development of fast, reliable methods to detect and to identify spoilage and/or pathogenic microorganisms in foods and in the study of the changes in food components as a consequence of food processing.

2. Proteomics

Proteomics studies are usually divided in three main areas, as follows.

2.1. Protein identification and characterization

Mass spectrometry (MS) is the method of choice for characterization and identification of proteins. The analysis of a proteome usually relies on one or several separation steps followed by MS analysis. The general approach consists of comparing MS experimental data with calculated mass values obtained from a sequence database using a search engine, such as Mascot [4].

In an approach known as peptide-mass fingerprinting (PMF) [5], a technique, such as two-dimensional gel electrophoresis (2-DE), is used to isolate an unknown protein, which is then enzymatically digested into peptides and subjected to MS. Another approach, usually known as peptide-fragmentation fingerprinting (PFF), uses tandem MS (MS/MS) to produce fragment-ion data from one or more peptides from the protein to identify the protein unambiguously [6]. Alternatively, MS/MS fragment-ion data from the entire protein can be used in a similar way for an approach known as top-down proteomics. For all these approaches, it is necessary for the corresponding protein to be present in the database. If the unknown protein is not present in the database, the best match will probably be the entry with the closest homology, usually a related protein from a related species. If the sequence similarity within protein databases is too low, peptides must be sequenced de novo [7], meaning that the MS/MS spectrum must be interpreted manually or through computer-assisted identification of the fragment ions with mass differences corresponding to the masses of the individual amino acids (AAs).

More than 300 different types of post-translational modification (PTM) occur on proteins in response to a wide range of intracellular and extracellular signals [8]. PTMs play crucial roles in protein function because they may alter protein activity, localization or stability. The mass shift in the modified AA with respect to the unmodified residue is the basis of the detection and the characterization of PTMs by MS. However, because PTMs are usually present in very low stoichiometry, modification-specific enrichment techniques are needed [8].

2.2. Differential proteomics

Quantitative information at the protein level, such as the relative abundance of a specific protein among different samples or the absolute amount of the protein, is very helpful when determining differences between different conditions (control *vs.* case). Relative quantification can be achieved with different methodologies, which may be classified as gel-based, label-based, and label-free approaches.

Gel-based methods consist of comparing the signal of an electrophoretically-isolated spot among different samples.

For label-based methods, proteins or peptides are labeled using a mass tag that is introduced metabolically, enzymatically or chemically, and relative quantification is obtained from the MS read-out. Quantification is based on the ratio of heavy/light peptide pairs.

Label-free approaches avoid the use of labeling with stable isotopes. The protein amount is calculated based on the MS-derived ion-current signal of the peptides or proteins or on the number of identified MS/MS spectra (spectral counts) for the protein.

However, for the absolute quantification of proteins, isotopically-labeled synthetic peptides are needed as internal standards for each target protein. For a more detailed description of all these quantitative proteomics approaches, we refer the reader to Panchaud et al. [9].

2.3. Functional proteomics

Most proteins function closely with other proteins. Functional proteomics studies address the integrated analysis of the functional interactions among different proteins and the networks thereof. In this sense, interactomics is defined as the study of the interactions between a specific protein and others and the consequences of these interactions [10–12]. For this transition from structural to functional proteomics, different platforms are currently being developed, but they are not necessarily MS-based; some of these techniques include affinity purification, yeast two-hybrid assays, protein microarrays, activity-based proteomics, phage display and capture-compound MS.

2.4. Proteomics workflows

A challenge for MS technology is the complex nature and large dynamic range of proteomes. Partial purification, depletion of high-abundance proteins, and selective enrichment are some of the methods used when working with complex samples [13]. After one of these techniques, further separation is performed at the protein and/or peptide level, typically based on gel electrophoresis and/or liquid chromatography (LC), before analysis by MS. Depending on how proteins will be analyzed in the mass spectrometer, two different proteomics workflows can be followed: bottom-up or top-down approaches (Fig. 1).

In the most common workflow, referred as a bottom-up or peptide-based approach, the protein/s of interest are converted into peptides using enzymes, such as trypsin, and the resulting peptide fragments are then analyzed by MS [1]. Bottom-up approaches can be further divided depending on whether the fractionation step is performed before (at the protein level) or after the enzymatic digestion (at the peptide level). A typical method for the former strategy utilizes a 2-DE gel-based approach, wherein proteins are separated based on their isoelectric point (*pI*) and molecular weight (*Mr*), so they can be individually excised from the gel and digested into peptides that are analyzed by MS. In the latter approach, also referred as shotgun proteomics, the protein mixture is enzymatically digested without prior fractionation, and the resulting peptides are analyzed by LC–MS. When the peak capacity of one chromatographic separation is insufficient, multidimensional LC is widely used, usually with a combination of strong cation-exchange and reversed-phase (RP) columns.

By contrast, top-down approaches allow the characterization of the peptides produced by the fragmentation of intact proteins directly inside the mass spectrometer, which avoids the enzymatic digestion step. This approach is now possible due to the high mass accuracy of the new high-resolution mass spectrometers, although these machines display limited performance due to instrumental constraints [14].

2.5. MS analysis

MS and bioinformatics are the two tools that have revolutionized proteomics studies, making possible the high-throughput analysis of thousands of proteins in one experiment. Briefly, MS consists of the ionization of analytes at an ion source [electrospray ionization (ESI) or matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI)] and the separation of the analyte ions depending on their mass-to-charge (m/z) ratio at one or several mass analyzers [quadrupole (Q), ion trap (IT), time-of-flight (TOF) or Fourier-transform ion-cyclotron resonance (FTICR)]. Subsequently, a detector registers the ion current released from the analyzers, producing the corresponding mass spectrum.

Currently, hybrid mass spectrometers, which combine different types of analyzers, are common (Q-TOF, QQQ, TOF–TOF and Q-IT). The combination of several mass analyzers allows users to perform two (MS/MS) or even several (MSⁿ) stages of MS. Different fragmentation mechanisms [collision-induced dissociation (CID)-related fragmentation modes (CID or HCD) and electron-transfer dissociation (ETD)] are currently available. The most significant advances in proteomics-based MS instrumentation are summarized elsewhere [15].

Data-dependent analysis (DDA) is the most popular acquisition mode when the objective is to study the highest possible number of proteins present in a sample. This method consists of MS/MS fragmentation of the most abundant ions detected during a survey MS scan. This is the approach followed for discovery approaches. Quantitative data can also be obtained using appropriate methodologies [9].

When information about the m/z of the proteins or peptides under study is available, data can be obtained using several acquisition modes included under the term "targeted proteomics". These experiments focus on specific ions selected by the operator, which increase the reproducibility, the sensitivity and the selectivity of the analysis. These techniques can be used to identify, to monitor and to quantify low-abundance peptides not detected by DDA analyses. In the acquisition modes known as selected ion monitoring (SIM) or selected MS/MS ion monitoring (SMIM), only the selected m/z values are detected or fragmented [16]. When the m/z of the precursor ion and one or several product ions are known, targeted proteomics analysis can be performed using selected-reaction monitoring (SRM) or multiple-reaction monitoring (MRM) acquisition modes [17]. These highly-sensitive targeted acquisition modes are the gold standards for the quantification of proteins and the monitoring of candidate-biomarker proteins in hypothesis-driven studies [18].

3. Proteomics in food authenticity

Food authentication is one of the major areas involved in food quality and safety. Several regulations have been implemented to assure correct information and to avoid species substitutions [19]. Food-species identification has traditionally relied on morphological or anatomical analysis. However, this is a difficult task



Fig. 1. Proteomics workflows commonly used for food-technology research.

in the case of closely-related species, especially for those products that have been subjected to processing. There is therefore a strong need for fast, reliable molecular identification methods that provide authorities and food industries with the tools needed to comply with labeling and traceability requirements, thus ensuring product quality and protection of the consumer.

Over the past two decades, several electrophoretic, immunological and DNA techniques have been developed for authentication purposes [20]. Limitations of these classical protein-based procedures include the lack of stability of some proteins during food processing and the labor and the time required for these procedures. Moreover, DNA-based procedures are not exempted from some important limitations. During the processing of food products, disruption of cellular integrity can occur, causing the release of hydrolytic enzymes. A combination of these enzymes with heat treatment and an acidic environment can negatively affect DNA integrity, reducing the length of fragments to be amplified and consequently increasing the chances of having non-specific identifications.

Proteomics methodologies have recently been proposed as promising strategies for food authentication [21–24]. Proteomics tools take advantage of the high-throughput capacity of MS to achieve fast, robust and sensitive protein and peptide characterization, detection, and quantification. These methodologies can be applied to species that are poorly characterized in genomic databases, avoiding the time-consuming steps of DNA amplification and sequencing. Moreover, proteomics-based methodologies can

be automated to produce fast, reproducible results that allow the high-throughput analysis of foodstuffs. A compilation of proteomics-based studies applied to date for food-species authentication was collected in Gallardo et al. [25]. New trends and potential directions are discussed in the following paragraphs.

Fig. 2 illustrates the proteomics pipeline (discovery phase and target-driven phase) used in our laboratory for seafood authentication [26,27].

3.1. Discovery phase

The goal of the discovery phase is to explore a particular proteome comprehensively, using reference samples, to identify potential species-specific peptide biomarkers (Fig. 2). The identification and the characterization of these diagnostic peptides is commonly performed using bottom-up proteomics. Species-specific peptides from parvalbumin (PRVB) [28] and arginine kinase (AK) proteins [29] have been demonstrated to be good markers for the identification of fish and shellfish species, respectively. The characterization of these peptide biomarkers is the first step toward their subsequent use as sensitive, diagnostic targets in the next step of the pipeline (Fig. 2).

3.2. Target-driven phase

In this second phase, a targeted proteomics approach is used to monitor the species-specific peptide biomarkers previously char-



Fig. 2. Proteomics pipeline used for identification, characterization and detection of species-specific peptide biomarkers for food authentication.

acterized (Fig. 2). As was described previously, for species without sequenced genomes, the selection of species-specific peptides requires a preceding exhaustive *de novo* MS sequencing analysis [7]. Once the species-specific peptides are collected, the MS analyzer is centered on analyzing one or several peptides by SRM, MRM or SMIM MS modes [16,17]. Monitoring transitions (suitable pairs of precursor and fragment ion m/z) is a common assay to identify peptide biomarkers. The advantages of this targeted proteomics approach are its high specificity and sensitivity, which permit the quantification of proteins in complex samples at concentrations below the ng/mL range [17]. In addition, in one study, species-specific peptides for beef, pork, chicken and turkey were used to detect less than 0.5% w/w chicken contamination of pork meat, even after cooking. This study is comparable with other DNA methods [30].

A fast strategy for monitoring species-specific peptides was recently described by our group (Fig. 2). This method combines fast sample preparation using high-intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU) trypsin digestion and the peptide-detection ability of MS in SMIM scanning mode [26,27]. Because PRVBs are thermostable proteins, the workflow also identifies fish species even in processed and precooked products. This method has been validated using different real commercial samples. This workflow constitutes the fastest method for peptide-biomarker monitoring (less than 2 h), and its application to food-quality control provides authorities with a rapid, effective method for food authentication and traceability in any foodstuff, which guarantees quality and safety to consumers [26].

In contrast to the increasing use of proteomics for the authentication of food samples, quantitative analysis of food samples by proteomics techniques has been limited to date. Numerous quantitative MS-based methodologies offer excellent strategies for both relative and absolute quantification [9]. However, the above strategies recently started to be used for the quantification of food adulterants. Thus, LC–MS/MS operating in MRM mode combined with the use of standard stable isotope synthesized peptides (i.e. AQUA peptides) has been evaluated for relative and absolute quantitative analysis of chicken meat in meat mixes, tomato sauce and industrial crab production [30]. Also, a label-free quantitative approach has been established using distinctive peptides for quantifying the content of genetic variants of casein in bulk goat milk [31].

Peptidomes may be considered as novel sources of information for food traceability [32]. Peptidomics is defined as the discipline that studies and analyzes the composition, interactions and properties of the entire endogenous peptide pool of a determined biological system. For example, peptidomics studies have been used to determine the origin of cheese and to detect soybean or milk proteins in other commercial protein preparations [33]. We expect that the use of the new powerful MS fragmentation modes, such as ETD and HCD, will expand the in-depth analysis of peptidomes to identify new potential biomarkers for food authentication. Current legislation also imposes monitoring of the traceability of raw transgenic materials and the labeling of genetically-modified-organism (GMO) products [34]. A modified gene implies modification of endogenous proteins or generation of novel proteins. Although GMO detection is generally performed using DNA profiling, the presence of a transgene in a food product does not guarantee the expression of the transgenic product. Detection of transgenic proteins is therefore a more realistic strategy. In this sense, we consider that the use of a targeted proteomics approach will be useful for detection of GMOs in foodstuffs.

4. Proteomics in food technology

4.1. Proteomics in food spoilage and microbiology

Food spoilage is a process caused by different biochemical changes due to microbial activities. These alterations depend on inherent and non-inherent microflora and on growth conditions, such as temperature, pH and a_w. Contamination incidents during food processing are responsible for significant economic losses for the food industry and serious food-borne diseases. More than 250 known pathogens, mostly microbes and their toxins, are known to cause food-borne illness. Although the identification and the classification of microorganisms are based on morphological, biochemical and DNA approaches, proteomics methodologies are being introduced to assist in the identification of food-borne pathogens and microorganisms responsible for food spoilage.

In the context of food technology, MALDI-TOF–MS analysis of intact bacterial cells or protein extracts was successfully applied to detect and identify different food-borne pathogens and food-spoilage bacteria in food products (Fig. 3). Remarkably, this meth-od identified: 146 strains of *Listeria* spp. in meat, poultry, dairy and vegetables [35]; 126 strains of *Salmonella* spp. in chicken, turkey, swine, and cattle [36]; 26 gram-negative and 52 gram-positive bacteria in seafood products [37,38], and, biogenic amine-producing bacteria involved in food poisoning [39].

Also, different commercial databases have been created for bacterial identification by MALDI-TOF–MS, such as SARAMIS (AnagnosTec GmbH, Zossen, Germany), the MicrobeLynx bacterial identification system (Waters Corporation, Manchester, UK), and MALDI Biotyper (Bruker Daltonics Inc, Billerica, MA, USA).

Recently, a new public reference library, Spectrabank (http:// www.spectrabank.org), was created [40]. This library contains the mass spectral fingerprints of the main spoilage-related and pathogenic bacteria species from seafood, and includes 120 species of interest in the food sector.

Regarding new potential directions and applications, we consider that the use of quantitative targeted MS proteomics approaches (i.e. absolute protein abundance by SRM) or the imple-



Fig. 3. Analytical scheme for identification of bacteria using MALDI-TOF-MS. {Reprinted with permission from [37]. @2010, American Chemical Society}.

mentation of new fast platforms, such as lab-on-chips, nanoproteomics or protein arrays [41], will be very useful tools for rapid detection, identification and quantification of microorganisms in any foodstuff. In addition, the emerging development of the new top-down proteomics approaches offers new options for the identification of bacteria in food samples based on monitoring intact species-specific proteins (\leq 40kDa).

4.2. Proteomics in food processing

Among the different processing treatments used in the foodmanufacturing industry, thermal processing (refrigeration, freezing, cooking, blanching, spray-drying, pasteurization, and sterilization) is one of the most widely used. These procedures are employed to improve the safety and the organoleptic and nutritional characteristics of food and to extend the shelf life of foodstuffs. However, due to the variability of products and processes used, chemical reactions can take place among the main components (proteins, lipids and carbohydrates), and, depending on the severity and time of the treatment, effects detrimental to the quality of foodstuffs can occur. A comprehensive overview of proteomics-based studies applied to date for food processing is compiled in Gallardo et al. [25]. A brief review concerning the effects of thermal processes on changes and modifications of food proteins using different proteomics methodologies is presented in this article.

Oxidation modifications, such as carbonylation, thiol oxidation and aromatic hydroxylation, and Maillard glycation (the reaction of sugars with AA side chains) are the protein modifications most frequently reported in foodstuffs that have been subjected to thermal processing. However, condensations and eliminations of side chains or peptide backbone breakdown have also been described [42].

Carbonylation occurs by oxidation of some AA side chains into ketone or aldehyde derivatives by reactions with compounds of lipid oxidation or by glycoxidation with reducing sugars. These protein-carbonyl compounds are markers of protein oxidation, and, recently, several carbonylated proteins and protein oxidation sites in milk [43], meat [44] and fishes [45] were identified using a classical bottom-up proteomics approach based on 2-DE and MS/MS. Specific labeling of protein carbonyls using fluorescein-5-thiosemicarbazide (FTSC) was developed and combined with 2-DE and MALDI-TOF/TOF to study the carbonylation of sarcoplasmic and myofibrillar proteins from fish subjected to metal-catalyzed oxidation [45].

Maillard glycation is another of the most-investigated protein modifications and occurs mainly during heating and storage of milk and dairy products. Maillard glycation, a non-enzymatic reaction between the amino groups of proteins and reduced sugars (lactose), produces glycoconjugate-condensation products, such as lactosylated proteins [46]. Diverse proteomics strategies based on bottom-up methods have been used to study Maillard reactions in milk and dairy products [47]. These strategies use native sizeexclusion chromatography (SEC) coupled online with ESI-MS/MS for rapid identification and characterization of lactosylated proteins in thermally-processed milk products [47]. Recently, the results of new investigations suggest that the ETD-MSfragmentation mode is an excellent, powerful technique for the analysis of non-enzymatic glycated peptides. The combination of the selective enrichment of lactosylated peptides, ETD-MS and peptide-ligand libraries has been applied for the identification of lactosylated proteins in thermally processed milk [48]. Using this methodology, 271 non-redundant modification sites on 33 milk proteins were identified.

Bioinformatics tools play an important role in the identification and the prediction of protein-modification sites. Within bioinformatics software, there are several programs designed to optimize the detection of protein modifications from MS data, including PTMProphet, ModifiComb and Peptoscope [49]. We expect that the availability of new repositories and databases, such as RedoxDB [50], the use of new specific labeling and enrichment methods, the use of the powerful new MS fragmentation modes, such as ETD and HCD, and the mapping and discovery of protein modifications by top-down proteomics will expand the applications for proteomics in the identification and the characterization of protein modifications in further food-related projects.

5. Concluding remarks and future direction

As is reported in this review, proteomics methodologies are increasingly helpful to address the major challenges in food authentication and food-technology research:

- (1) the identification of food components;
- (2) the development of fast and reliable methods for the detection and identification of spoilage and/or pathogenic microorganisms; and,
- (3) the study of changes in food proteins as a consequence of food processing.

Two consecutive phases of the proteomics pipeline used in our laboratory (discovery and target-driven phases) allow the identification and the characterization of several peptide biomarkers, which can be rapidly monitored by MS using an innovative, rapid strategy based on the use of HIFU protein digestion. This novel targeted proteomics approach allows the unequivocal, fast authentication of food species in less than 2 h. This pipeline is currently being implemented for the rapid, reliable identification of microorganisms in different foodstuffs. Also, we believe that the extensive use of this new targeted proteomics strategy will find a relevant position in food technology.

In addition, different proteomics technologies based on the high-throughput analysis of protein modifications are being used to study the effects caused by thermal processing and storing of food proteins in foodstuffs.

Nevertheless, although proteomics currently contributes enormously to the development of food technology, new applications and developments offer promising proposals for new food-related projects. The quantitation of food products, the analysis of the peptidome, the identification of GMOs, the availability of repositories and new protein data in public food-related databases, the use of specific labeling and enrichment methods for food-protein modifications, new advances on ETD and HCD MS fragmentation modes, top-down proteomics, nanoproteomics and the extensive use of the fast, targeted proteomics approach are some of the new potential food-related directions proposed in this work. We therefore expect that proteomics technologies will offer interesting new opportunities within the field of food-technology research.

References

- A. Pandey, M. Mann, Proteomics to study genes and genomes, Nature 405 (2000) 837–846.
- [2] I. Ortea, A. Pascoal, B. Cañas, J.M. Gallardo, J. Barros-Velázquez, P. Calo-Mata, Food authentication of commercially-relevant shrimp and prawn species: from classical methods to foodomics, Electrophoresis 39 (2012) 2201–2211.
- [3] M. Carrera, B. Cañas, J.M. Gallardo, Fish authentication, in: F. Toldrá, L.M.L. Nollet (Eds.), Proteomics in Foods: Principles and Applications, Springer, New York, Heidelberg Dordrecht London, 2013, pp. 205–222.
- [4] D.N. Perkins, D.J.C. Pappin, D.M. Creasy, J.S. Cottrell, Probability-based protein identification by searching sequence databases using mass spectrometry data, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 3551–3567.
- [5] D.J.C. Pappin, P. Hojrup, A. Bleasby, Rapid identification of proteins by peptidemass fingerprinting, Curr. Biol. 3 (1993) 327–332.

- [6] J.K. Eng, A.L. McCormack, J.R. Yates III, An approach to correlate tandem mass spectral data of peptides with amino acid sequences in a protein database, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 5 (1994) 976–989.
- [7] A. Shevchenko, M. Wilm, M. Mann, Peptide sequencing by mass spectrometry for homology searches and cloning of genes, J. Protein Chem. 16 (1997) 481– 490.
- [8] Y. Zhao, O.N. Jensen, Modification-specific proteomics: strategies for characterization of post-translational modifications using enrichment techniques, Proteomics 9 (2009) 4632–4641.
- [9] A. Panchaud, M. Affolter, P. Moreillon, M. Kussmann, Experimental and computational approaches to quantitative proteomics: status quo and outlook, J. Proteomics 71 (2008) 19–33.
- [10] L. Kiemer, G. Cesareni, Comparative interactomics: comparing apples and pears?, Trends Biotechnol 25 (2007) 448–454.
- [11] S. Serim, U. Haedke, S.H.L. Verhelst, Activity-based probes for the study of proteases: recent advances and developments, ChemMedChem 7 (2012) 1146–1159.
- [12] P.M. Angel, R.M. Caprioli, Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization imaging mass spectrometry in situ molecular mapping, Biochemistry (2013). Epub ahead of print. doi: 10.1021/bi301519p.
- [13] S. Surinova, R. Schiess, R. Hüttenhain, F. Cerciello, B. Wollscheid, R. Aebersold, On the development of plasma protein biomarkers, J. Proteome Res. 10 (2011) 5–16.
- [14] F.W. McLafferty, K. Breuker, M. Jin, X. Han, G. Infusini, H. Jiang, X. Kong, T.P. Begley, Top-down MS, a powerful complement to the high capabilities of proteolysis proteomics, FEBS J 274 (2007) 6256–6268.
- [15] X. Han, A. Aslanian, J.R. Yates III, Mass spectrometry for proteomics, Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 12 (2008) 483–490.
- [16] I. Jorge, E.M. Casas, M. Villar, I. Ortega-Pérez, D. López-Ferrer, A. Martıínez-Ruiz, M. Carrera, A. Marina, P. Martínez, H. Serrano, B. Cañas, F. Were, J.M. Gallardo, S. Lamas, J.M. Redondo, D. García-Dorado, J. Vázquez, Highsensitivity analysis of specific peptides in complex samples by selected MS/ MS ion monitoring and linear ion trap mass spectrometry: application to biological studies, J. Mass Spectrom. 42 (2007) 1391–1403.
- [17] S. Gallien, E. Duriez, B. Domon, Selected reaction monitoring applied to proteomics, J. Mass Spectrom. 46 (2011) 298-312.
- [18] S.A. Gerber, J. Rush, O. Stemman, M.W. Kirschner, S.P. Gygi, Absolute quantification of proteins and phosphoproteins from cell lysates by tandem MS, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100 (2003) 6940–6945.
- [19] Council Regulation (EC) No. 178/2002. Official Journal of European, Communities 31 (2002) p. 1.
- [20] I. Mafra, I. Ferreira, M.B. Oliveira, Food authentication by PCR-based methods, Eur. Food Res. Technol. 227 (2008) 649–665.
- [21] M. Carrera, B. Cañas, P. Piñeiro, J. Vázquez, J.M. Gallardo, Identification of commercial hake and grenadier species by proteomic analysis of the parvalbumin fraction, Proteomics 6 (2006) 5278–5287.
- [22] I. Ortea, B. Cañas, P. Calo-Mata, J. Barros-Velázquez, J.M. Gallardo, Arginine kinase peptide mass fingerprinting as a proteomic approach for species identification and taxonomic analysis of commercially relevant shrimp species, J. Agric. Food Chem. 57 (2009) 5665–5672.
- [23] G. Mamone, G. Picariello, S. Caira, F. Addeo, P. Ferranti, Analysis of food proteins and peptides by mass spectrometry-based techniques, J. Chromatogr. A 1216 (2009) 7130–7142.
- [24] M.A. Sentandreu, E. Sentandreu, Peptide biomarkers as a way to determine meat authenticity, Meat Sci. 89 (2011) 280–285.
- [25] J.M. Gallardo, M. Carrera, I. Ortea, Proteomics in food science, in: A. Cifuentes (Ed.), Foodomics: Advances in Mass Spectrometry in Modern Food Science and Nutrition, Joth Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey, 2013, pp. 125– 165.
- [26] M. Carrera, B. Cañas, D. López-Ferrer, C. Piñeiro, J. Vázquez, J.M. Gallardo, Fast monitoring of species-specific peptide biomarkers using high-intensityfocused-ultrasound-assisted tryptic digestion and selected MS/MS ion monitoring, Anal. Chem. 83 (2011) 5688–5695.
- [27] I. Ortea, B. Cañas, J.M. Gallardo, Selected tándem mass spectrometry ion monitoring for the fast identification of seafood species, J. Chromatogr. A 1218 (2011) 4445–4451.
- [28] M. Carrera, B. Cañas, J. Vázquez, J.M. Gallardo, Extensive de novo sequencing of new parvalbumin isoforms using a novel combination of bottom-up proteomics, accurate molecular mass measurement by FTICR-MS, and selected MS/MS ion monitoring, J. Proteome Res. 9 (2010) 4393–4406.

- [29] I. Ortea, B. Cañas, J.M. Gallardo, Mass spectrometry characterization of speciesspecific peptides from arginine kinase for the identification of commercially relevant shrimp species, J. Proteome Res. 8 (2009) 5356–5362.
- [30] M.A. Sentandreu, P.D. Fraser, J. Halket, R. Patel, P.M. Bramley, A proteomicbased approach for detection of chicken in meat mixes, J. Proteome Res. 9 (2010) 3374–3383.
- [31] G. Picariello, P. Ferranti, S. Caira, O. Fierro, L. Chianese, F. Addeo, Fast screening and quantitative evaluation of internally deleted goat alphas1-casein variants by mass spectrometric detection of the signature peptides, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 23 (2009) 775–787.
- [32] P. Minkiewicz, J. Dziuba, M. Darewicz, A. Iwaniak, M. Dziuba, D. Nałecz, Food peptidomics, Food Technol. Biotechnol. 46 (2008) 1–10.
- [33] J. Sørensen, C. Benfeldt, Comparison of ripening characteristics of Danbo cheeses from two dairies, Int. Dairy J. 11 (2001) 355–362.
- [34] European Parliament, Council Regulation (EC) No 1830/2003 (2003).
- [35] S.B. Barbuddhe, T. Maier, G. Schwarz, M. Kostrzewa, H. Hof, E. Domann, T. Chakraborty, T. Hain, Rapid identification and typing of listeria species by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry, Appl. Env. Microbiol. 74 (2008) 5402–5407.
- [36] R. Dieckmann, R. Helmuth, M. Erhard, B. Malorny, Rapid classification and identification of salmonellae at the species and subspecies levels by whole-cell matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry, Appl. Env. Microbiol. 74 (2008) 7767–7778.
- [37] K. Böhme, I. Fernández-No, J. Barros-Velázquez, J.M. Gallardo, P. Calo-Mata, B. Cañas, Species differentiation of seafood spoilage and pathogenic gramnegative bacteria by MALDI-TOF mass fingerprinting, J. Proteome Res. 9 (2010) 3169–3183.
- [38] K. Böhme, I. Fernández-No, J. Barros-Velázquez, J.M. Gallardo, B. Cañas, P. Calo-Mata, Rapid species identification of seafood spoilage and pathogenic Grampositive bacteria by MALDI-TOF mass fingerprinting, Electrophoresis 32 (2011) 2951–2965.
- [39] I.C. Fernández-No, K. Böhme, J.M. Gallardo, J. Barros-Velázquez, B. Cañas, P. Calo-Mata, Differential characterization of biogenic amine-producing bacteria involved in food poisoning using MALDI-TOF mass fingerprinting, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 1116–1127.
- [40] K. Böhme, I.C. Fernández-No, J. Barros-Velázquez, J.M. Gallardo, B. Cañas, P. Calo-Mata, SpectraBank: an open access tool for rapid microbial identification by MALDI-TOF MS fingerprinting, Electrophoresis 33 (2012) 2138–2142.
- [41] M. García, J. Orozco, M. Guix, W. Gao, S. Sattayasamitsathit, A. Escarpa, A. Merkoci, J. Wang, Micromotor-based lab-on-chip immunoassays, Nanoscale 5 (2013) 1325–1331.
- [42] M. Pischetsrieder, R. Baeuerlein, Proteome research in food science, Chem. Soc. Rev. 38 (2009) 2600–2608.
- [43] B. Meyer, F. Baum, G. Vollmer, M. Pischetsrieder, Distribution of protein oxidation products in the proteome of thermally processed milk, J. Agric. Food Chem. 60 (2012) 7306–7311.
- [44] A. Promeyrat, T. Sayd, E. Laville, C. Chambon, B. Lebret, Ph. Gatellier, Early postmortem sarcoplasmic proteome of porcine muscle related to protein oxidation, Food Chem. 127 (2011) 1097–1104.
- [45] M. Pazos, A. Pereira da Rocha, P. Roepstorff, A. Rogowska-Wrzesinska, Fish proteins as targets of ferrous-catalyzed oxidation: identification of protein carbonyls by fluorescent labeling on two-dimensional gels and MALDI-TOF/ TOF mass spectrometry, J. Agric. Food Chem. 59 (2011) 7962–7977.
- [46] S.I.F.S. Martins, W.M.F. Jongen, M.A.J.S. van Boekel, A review of Maillard reaction in food and implications to kinetic modeling, Trends in, Food Sci. Technol. 11 (2001) 364–373.
- [47] P. Johnson, M. Philo, A. Watson, E.N. Clare Mills, Rapid fingerprinting of milk thermal processing history by intact protein mass spectrometry with nondenaturing chromatography, J. Agric. Food Chem. 59 (2011) 12420– 12427.
- [48] S. Arena, G. Renzone, G. Novi, A. Paffetti, G. Bernardini, A. Santucci, A. Scaloni, Modern proteomic methodologies for the characterization of lactosylation protein targets in milk, Proteomics 10 (2010) 3414–3434.
- [49] M.M. Savitski, M.L. Nielsen, R.A. Zubarev, ModifiComb, a new proteomic tool for mapping substoichiometric post-translational modifications, finding novel types of modifications, and fingerprinting complex protein mixtures, Mol. Cell. Proteomics 5 (5) (2006) 935–948.
- [50] M.A. Sun, Y. Wang, H. Cheng, Q. Zhang, W. Ge, D. Guo, RedoxDB a curated database for experimentally verified protein oxidative modification, Bioinformatics 28 (2012) 2551–2552.